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Earley

READING BERKS.

Editorial

This Bulletin is to some degree an interim issue. Henry Cleere has been
forced by pressure of work to relinquish the editorship, and I have
agreed to assemble the material on this occasion. However, a new and
more permanent editor must be found, and if anyone feels able to
volunteer, the Hon.Secretary would be delighted to hear. In order to
print this issue in time for the January meeting certain items, notably
reviews of recent published work, have had to be held over.

DAVID CROSSLEY Acting Editor

Ore for the Wealden Iron Industry by Bernard Worssam

The principal ore for the Wealden iron industry, and the one on which
certainly the blast furnace if not also the bloomery industry is based,
is known as clay ironstone, and more specifically as siderite mudstone.

Clay ironstone is an older and more vague term than siderite
mudstone. It means a rock with a high proportion of iron, and of fine
grain size, and some association with clay deposits is generally
implied. The word ‘mudstone’ in the term siderite mudstone refers to
the grain size of the material, and does not imply any necessary
relationship to clay as a mineral. In the usual scheme of
classification of sediments, clay is a sediment of extremely fine grain
size, silt is intermediate, being composed of grains between 0.005 and
0.05mm in diameter, while sand, a material familiar to everyone, is
composed of grains larger than 0.05mm in diameter. The corresponding
rock terms are mudstone, siltstone and sandstone.

Wealden ironstones are sedimentary rocks, which means that they
originally formed as a sediment at the bottom of some naturally
occurring body of water such as a sea, lake or estuary. Siderite
mudstone is a clay ironstone that is composed largely if not entirely of
the mineral siderite (pronounced side-erite). An alternative name for
this mineral, not generally used since the 1930s, is chalybite. Siderite
consists essentially of iron carbonate, strictly speaking ferrous



carbonate, which has the simple chemical formula FeCO,. By substituting
in this formula the atomic weights of iron, carbon and oxygen, which
are 55.8, 12 and 16 respectively, one can calculate that FeCO, contains
48.2 per cent by weight of metallic iron. This explains why siderite
mudstone was of interest to iron smelters.

Siderite as a constituent of a rock can be identified by reason of
its crystalline form. The crystals are not apparent to the naked eye,
however. They can only be seen in thin sections of the rock, under a
microscope. The making of ‘thin sections’, ie.glass slides on which are
mounted slices of rock ground so thinly that they are transparent, is a
standard geological procedure. In thin section, siderite mudstone
appears as a colourless mosaic of tiny rhomb-shaped crystals, each less
than 0.005mm diameter.

As well as ferrous carbonate, siderite mudstones can also contain
small proportions of calcium carbonate (CaCO,) and magnesium carbonate
(MgCO;). From the point of view of iron-smelting these compounds are
important, because they could act as fluxes. The presence of only a few
percent of calcium and magnesium carbonates in the ore may have
rendered unnecessary the addition of a separate flux to the furnace
charge. It is because of its possible variability in composition, the
exact extent of which can only be determined by chemical analysis, that
a mineral name is used in preference to a chemical name, even for a
material of such simple chemical composition as siderite mudstone.
Possibly, too, this is why the name clay ironstone persists in use.

Fortunately for those without microscopes or portable laboratories,
once siderite mudstone has been identified as a type, it can generally
be readily distinguished in the field. In fresh and unweathered samples
it is a light grey, fine-grained rock, very hard, breaking with a
smooth fracture. Its general appearance is rather like that which
cement takes on if it happens to set before being mixed with sand, but
its distinguishing feature is its weight. It simply ‘feels heavy’ by
comparison with similarly-sized pieces of more common rocks such as
sandstone. Not surprisingly, since because of its high iron content the
density, or specific gravity, of siderite is 3.8, nearly half as much
again as that of quartz, the common constituent mineral of sandstones.

Under the action of weathering, which is effective for 10ft or so
downwards from the ground surface, siderite (ferrous carbonate) becomes
oxidised to limonite (ferric oxide) a dark brown mineral which looks
like and is chemically similar to the rust that forms on iron.
Weathering commonly starts on the outside of a lump of clay ironstone
and works towards its centre, forming successive crusts of limonite,
that readily break off. This type of weathering is sometimes knows as
onion-skin weathering.

Clay ironstone generally occurs in round, bun-shaped lumps known
as nodules, usually about 3 to 9 inches in diameter. It can also
form extensive layers, from an inch or two up to 2ft thick. Although
it counts as a sedimentary rock, it is not a simple, mechanically
deposited sediment as is, say, clay or silt. The materials making up
these latter would have been carried as particles suspended in the
waters of streams that entered the former wealden lake, to be
deposited on the lake bottom when the currents bearing them along
lost their momentum. Iron, by contrast, was probably carried into
the lake as ferrous carbonate in solution or



as ferric oxide in colloidal suspension, though the exact means by
which it was transported is not certain. What probably happened was
that as a deposit of mud built up on the lake bottom, it trapped a
certain amount of the lake water containing iron solutions. Bacteria in
the mud may have helped to reduce iron oxide to ferrous carbonate. With
continual deposition of mud the pressure on its lower layers increased,
so that, at possibly a few feet below the lake floor, water began to be
expelled upwards from the sediment, the mud began to harden into clay,
and the iron carbonate solutions, becoming more saturated, began to
crystallise.

In simple chemical experiment, large crystals of copper sulphate
can be grown by ‘seeding’ a saturated solution of copper sulphate with
small crystals. The crystallisation of iron carbonate may have started
in a similar way, at widely spaced centres, around scattered tiny shell
fragments or the like. As each nodule grew, it would have expelled the
surrounding still-fluid clay. Fine laminae of quartz silt can be seen
to continue undisturbed through some nodules, giving an indication of
the slowness of their growth. Many nodules also contain a little
interstitial clay. Growth would have stopped when all the iron
carbonate available became used up. This manner of growth explains the
roughly spherical form of the nodules, flattened along the vertical
axis, which was the direction of greatest pressure. It also explains
the sharp contact against the surrounding clay that most nodules show.
Where the amount of iron carbonate was greater than usual it would have
formed continuous layers, but these layers, like the nodules,
presumably formed under rather than on the lake bottom.

Clay ironstone nodules, all much alike in appearance, occur
throughout the Wealden Beds. They would, however, possibly not be
expected to occur in red clays, for these indicate oxidising conditions
of deposition, under which ferrous iron compounds would not have
survived. At a few levels in the Wealden Beds clay ironstone is more
than usually well developed. Presumably at these levels more iron than
usual was being brought into the basin of deposition. Ironstone is best
developed

1) in the lower part of the Wadhurst Clay, throughout the central
Weald;

2) in the Upper Tunbridge Wells Sand formation of the St.Leonard’s
Forest area, between Horsham and Crawley;

3) in the lower part of the Weald Clay, just beneath the Horsham
Stone; and

4) in the upper part of the Weald Clay, at the western end of the
Weald, in the Chiddingfold-Northchapel-Fernhurst area.

These separate developments appear to have been the principal
sources of ore for the wealden iron industry, and all of them were
worked by minepits. Because the ore is widespread, however, it is
possible that other, smaller occurrences of it were exploited,
particularly for bloomeries, which presumably were not so dependent as
were blast furnaces on the presence of large and continuous supplies of
ore.



Combeswell Bloomery — A magnetometer survey Peter Ovenden
The site (SU 9015 3535) of this bloomery is a derelict field at the
bottom of a small, steep-sided valley under the sandstone escarpment
north of Haslemere. No surface features are to be seen except a
scattering of tap-slag (Straker, type B) in a nearby ditch. Since this
is not an uncommon situation with early bloomery sites it would not be
inappropriate to describe, in some detail, the manner and results of a
survey, made earlier this year, with a proton magnetometer kindly
loaned by the Oceanography Department of Southampton University.

With the limited field of view at the site, a somewhat arbitrary
procedure was necessary in laying down the reference grid derived from
the southern boundary bank shown as a land parcel boundary on the 25"
O0.S.map (Surrey, Sheet XLIV.4). Owing to the exuberant vegetation, a
secondary datum, down the long axis of the field, was unavoidable
(dotted line on sketch map). As this may have introduced more error
than was desirable, the other co-ordinate was laid parallel to the
original reference bank, since the other sides of the field were by no
means straight, through the approximate centre of the site as indicated
by Mr N. Rosher, who was present at the original discovery, during tree
clearing in 1949

The two ordinates were traversed, taking readings at every 2m, the
full length of the dotted lines shown on the sketch map. The average of
the readings outside the shaded area constituted the background count.
Readings were taken, also at 2m intervals, within the shaded area,
traversing in alternate directions parallel to the reference field
boundary.

The magnetometer provides a five-digit readout that is related to
the intensity of the Earth’s magnetic field at the centre of the
detector coil. The coil is hold, by means of the aluminium probe, 1ft
above the surface of the ground. The count is lower the stronger is the
field intensity which is locally enhanced by the near presence of
magnetic material. Under the conditions of the present survey, only
quantities of metallic iron or magnetite could produce significant
changes in the read-out and an iron fragment, about '.lb in weight,
would have to be within 3ft of the coil to produce a detectable change
in the count. Local weakening (increased count) of the Earth’s magnetic
field is brought about by a large number of substances which include
slag, various rock formations and, therefore, building materials.

To obtain a realistic picture of the situation a few feet
underground, it is essential to determine what constitutes a
significant change in the magnetometer count in the locality of the
survey. This was arrived at by noting the deviation of individual
readings outside the grid from the combined average. On a statistical
basis, any reading within the grid must be larger or smaller by twice
the deviation to be significantly different from the average count.
In this survey the background was 50425 with a deviation of 5, hence
grid counts had to be less than 50415, to indicate the
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certain presence of iron or magnetite, or greater than 50435, for the
presence of any other anomaly. In the diagram, the first three digits
have been omitted since they did not change over the area surveyed. Any
arbitrary division of the results, e.g., dividing the range of readings
into any convenient number of steps, tends to produce a more complex
picture that is more difficult to interpret. As it is, the region of
positive anomaly, the “iron-rich” area is unambiguous and locates the
probable bloomery working area (shaded on the diagram) with sufficient
accuracy for the purpose of excavation. The regions of negative anomaly
(weaker field; higher count) are also well defined but, because of the
manifold likely causes (v.s.), remain ambiguous.

The possibility of building foundations causing the negative
anomalies on the right hand side of the diagram (S.W.) cannot be ruled
out. The locality, at present, is a quiet backwater but there is
evidence of almost continuous human occupation from the Stone Age until
the 18th Century. Only for this reason the presence of the bloomery is
not surprising; it is, otherwise, 1Y% miles from the nearest clay
ironstone and no evidence of the gritstone, found at the top of
Weaver'’'s Down (Straker, p.450) appears on Gibbet Hill, above the
coombe. An unrepresentative analysis of a single piece of tap-slag
favours the clay ironstone as the probable source. If this conclusion
is subsequently confirmed then dating of the site will provide the
latest date for the discovery of the clay ironstone that supplied the
Industry in the Western Weald (see B.C. Worssam, Proc. Geol. Assoc.,
1964, 22, 529). Finally, the nearest source of clay, for the furnace
lining, appears some distance to the S.W.in the bed of the nearby
stream; at the site the Atherfield Clay is covered by a thick layer of
detritus from the valley walls. At present, it would appear that the
choice of site for the bloomery was made on social grounds.

Acknowledgements

The West Sussex Group is indebted, for the notification of this site,
to Mr G. H. Kenyon, who kindly passed on the original (1949)
correspondence with Mr .A. Chandler, the previous owner. Our debt to Mr
Neville Rosher, who provided the background information, supported by
an impressive collection of finds, and guidance to the site, is equally
great. We would also wish to take this opportunity to record our
appreciation of the active interest of the present proprietory Mr J. E.
Attew.

Excavations at Pippingford 1972
A brief excavation took place in June 1972 at Pippingford Blast
Furnace, Hartfield (TQ 450 316) to determine the exact whereabouts of
the furnace and its wheelpit. The latter was not found, but the
position of the furnace and its casting house are now clear, although
the stonework has been meticulously robbed. The meagre finds from the
site support the documents in E.S.R.O. which suggest a date about 1717.
Work will continue on a larger scale in July and August 1973, and
helpers will be most welcome. They should contact the Chairman or the
Acting Editor.
D. W. C.
C. F. T.



Chingley Furnace David Crossley
The furnace, sited at (N.G.R.) TQ 684 327 is known from documentary
references to have been in operation in 1565 and 1574, and to have been
derelict in 1588. It is doubtful whether it was subsequently rebuilt.
It smelted iron ore from the adjacent Furnace Pit Shaw with charcoal
from local woodlands. This year’'s excavation completed work begun in
1969-70, and the site will be flooded when the Bewl Dam is built.

The furnace complex formed a compact unit on the north-east side of
the valley of the Bewl. A comparatively short dam had been built across
the valley, and immediately downstream a platform had been cut into the
sandstone of the valley side. On this was built the stone tower of the
furnace, the bellows structure and, during the life of the site, a
store building. A wheelpit and tailrace had been cut into the edge of
the platform on its stream side.

The furnace was a stone tower, surviving near its centre to 4-5
ft.above the platform. Its lowest course was well built with ashlar
facings and a heavy rubble core, although the pillar between the
bellows and casting arches was of poorer quality at this level.
Although the footing course may in any case have been of better build
than the stonework above, it was clear from the stratification of the
north-west foundation trenches that all the upper surviving stone work
of the furnace was a replacement. It was of poorer material, bulging in
places, and with clay rather than rubble core.

The hearth had been rebuilt on several occasions, as is to be
expected, and the substantial fragment which remained in place in the
central square of the tower was built over a cavity or sump which was
itself cut into the natural sandstone of the platform. A worthwhile
section of the hearth lining was obtained. The sump was connected to
drainage channels, one of which led to the porous filling above the
tailrace, but the other was apparently incomplete. The furnace tower
had been braced with timbers, and fragments of vertical posts were in
place at three of the corners.

The bellows area was of great interest, giving as complete an
indication of its equipment has has yet been seen in this country. The
bellows were probably within a building between the dam and the south-
east of the furnace: a substantial sleeper beam was in place along the
southeast edge of the excavated platform, marking the fringe of the
dam, and the latter was revetted by horizontal edge-set planks set
behind vertical timbers which could support a roof spanning over to the
furnace, above the blowing arch. Within this area were the base-frame
and pivots for two sets of bellows, whose boards were apparently raised
by cams on the wheel shaft; these presumably fell under their own
weight, no doubt assisted by weights at their extreme ends. A
substantial fragment of the shaft was approximately in place, where it
had dropped after having its extremities, with their bearing surfaces,
chopped off. The cam holes were intact, although the cams themselves



had been removed: each set of bellows would operate 3 times per
revolution of the shaft, thus giving a draught six times per turn of
the waterwheel. The massive wooden bearing block for the north-east end
of the shaft survived, although its bearing had been removed.

At the southwest end of the shaft lay a substantial fragment of an
over-shot waterwheel in a timber wheel pit, and beyond it, stonework on
which a shaft bearing would have stood. The wheel, exactly eleven feet
in diameter, was twelve inches wide between 1-1'.-inch-thick sideboards,
with well shaped curved bucket boards nailed to the sides and
strengthened by dowels against their backs. This was not the first
wheel to be used, as fragments of straight bucket-boards lay in the
lower silt of the wheelpit. The wheelpit had a plank floor, pegged to
cross-sleepers, and the frame of the pit was built using mortice-and-
tenon joints. Several of its uprights had continued above the level of
the upper rails of the pit, to support the penstock. The latter had
been fed through a trench cut in the top of the dam, which was
sectioned to show the beam slot on which a wooden shoot or flash must
have been built. The clean material in this trench suggested deliberate
filling.

The tailrace was also of timber, culverted with planks. This was
notable for being set close to the casting arch of the furnace, running
beneath the casting floor, whose sand lay on a thick deposit of slag
which had bean tipped over the culvert. This layout allowed a compact
platform, as well as permitting a shorter wheel shaft than would have
been necessary had water channels been taken, open, well clear of the
casting floor. The south-west side of the tailrace timber was set into
the original alluvium of the valley.

The original unit had been completed by the excavation of a neatly
cut drain trench along the north-east and north-west sides. This had
tapped springs along the foot of the scarped hillside, taking water to
the point in the tailrace where culvert boarding ended. It seemed that
a good deal of the water collected must also have seeped across the
bellows area to the wheelpit, particularly as the drain, although
filled with a porous ash and covered by boards, seems to have been
forgotten and covered by uneven material, including clay, associated
with the rebuilding of the furnace walls. A later addition was a
poorly-built structure, perhaps a storehouse, against the north-west
side of the furnace, its walls standing over the foundation trench
associated with the poor-quality rebuilding of the main structure.

Thus the elements of a charcoal-period furnace were present; indeed
the only feature missing was the charging bridge, which need have been
no more than planks from a shelf at the top of the dugout scarp to the
furnace top.

The finds confirmed the documentary dating. There was no pottery
which suggested use of the site into the 17th century, and the balance
of the local earthenware and imported stoneware suggested activity in
the middle of the 16th century. Among other objects, a substantial
fragment of a pig of iron and fragments of the bellows were of
particular interest. The bellows area produced prolific nails and
scraps of leather.

Thanks are due to the Department of the Environment for funding the exc-
avation, the Society for Post-Medieval Archaeology for handling the grant, the



Nuffield Foundation for use of equipment bought out of a fieldwork
grant and the Wealden Iron Research Group for the use of equipment and
facilities; Mrs C. Hussey for allowing excavation on Scotney Estate
land and the Medway Water Board for permitting access through land it
has acquired for the reservoir. Mrs Parsons kindly allowed the
excavation camp to be placed on a field in her tenure and Miss Fevan,
as well as allowing access, aided our work in numerous ways; Mr and Mrs
Veitch on whose land we had worked in previous seasons were again of
great assistance. I am particularly grateful to the volunteers whose
efforts in excavation and surveying in the usual unfavourable
conditions allowed work to be completed within the limits of time and
funds available. Their efforts were amply rewarded, in particular by Mr
W.F. Beswick’s generous offer to undertake the conservation of the
waterwheel fragment.

The Use of Bloomery Slag in Blast Furnaces David Butler

In the bloomery furnace flux was not normally added to the furnace
burden; the latter consisted only of ore and charcoal. However to
obtain a bloom of iron it is necessary for the unwanted parts of the
ore to be removed in the form of a free running slag. For this purpose
iron oxide in the ore acts as a flux, and at the low temperatures
prevailing in the bloomery a considerable quantity of the iron oxide
content of the ore is required to form a free running slag. The iron
oxide so used as a flux is not available for the production of iron and
consequently the efficiency of the bloomery process suffers.

In the charcoal blast furnace a higher temperature could be
attained compared with a bloomery furnace. If there were no flux
addition to the furnace burden, then, as for the bloomery, iron oxide
from the ore is used to flux the unwanted part of the ore. However,
because of the higher working temperature, a free running slag can be
produced in the blast furnace with less iron oxide than required by the
bloomery. (The data suggests that the iron oxide content is not much
less, but the effect of small quantities of limey material charged as
part of the ore may enable the iron oxide content of the slag to be
appreciably lowered whilst still remaining free running. Further
information on this aspect would be appreciated.)

If instead of using the iron oxide from the ore another source of
oxide could be found, a greater yield of iron would result. Such a
source is old bloom slag. At the temperatures prevailing in the blast
furnace, this slag, containing much iron oxide, can act as a flux and
take up some of the impurities in the ore. The iron content of the
tapslag is still not available for the production of iron, but it frees
some of the iron oxide of the ore from having to act as a flux, and
increases the efficiency of the furnace.

With the introduction of limestone as a flux addition to the
blast furnace burden, a different set of slag
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forming conditions arise. It is no longer necessary for the iron oxide
of the ore to be lost in forming a free running slag, as its function
is replaced by the limestone. If bloomery slag is also added to the
furnace burden, then it would appear that the iron oxide content of
this may also be replaced by the calcium oxide from the limestone,
whereupon it is available for the production of iron. Thus tapslag
could be a valuable iron-producing constituent of the furnace burden.
The information on this aspect appears to be meagre and I would welcome
further data. Does anyone know if this processwas used in Sussex? It
appears to have been a common practice in the Forest of Dean.

Wealden Fortified Camps and the Iron Industry C. F Tebbutt

Thoughts on the title of this article were prompted by a recent visit
by Mr and Mrs E.W. Holden and myself to that most interesting earthwork
known as Piper’s Copse, near Kirdford, Sussex (SU 978 295). This was
first surveyed by G.H. Kenyon in 1935, who carried out a small
excavation there with S.E. Winbolt soon afterwards (see Sussex Arch.
Collections 77 (1936) pp.245-9; further notes on the site were
contributed by Mr Kenyon in S.A.C. 86 (1947) p.xxxix, and 99 (1961)
p.248; also in Sussex Notes and Queries May 1969; and by Winbolt in The
Times of August 5th 1935.)

The earthwork, situated on low ground in dense coppice woodland, is
ovoid in shape with an impressive, single rampart standing up to 8 feet
above ground level, and an outside ditch 8 feet deep. It encloses an
area of just over one acre. Winbolt found what he described as an iron
smelting hearth on the inside of the rampart on the north-west side
associated with what is described as La Teéne III pottery. He mentions
Romano-British and Medieval pottery, found elsewhere in the earthwork.

On our recent visit we found that the rampart had been dug into in
a number of places, presumably in pursuit of rabbits or foxes, whose
holes occurred all round the bank. At the place marked “Lime Kiln” on
the plan we found several large pieces of iron smelting cinder, one at
least being part of a “furnace bottom”, and at the point marked
“Hearth” (on the published plan in Sx.A.C. 77) were several more, all
apparently from a bloomery. Winbolt does not mention the finding of any
such cinder or slag and our material seems to reinforce his findings.

There are now at least five known wealden fortified camps, all
presumably of pre-Roman origin, all apparently connected with the iron
industry, four of them found to have been occupied after the Roman
invasion. They are:

HASCOMBE (see Surrey Arch. Collections, 40 (1932) p.89). TQ 005 386.
Iron smelting hearth and Romano-British pottery.

PIPER’S COPSE (above). SU 978 295. Iron smelting hearth, bloomery
cinder, furnace bottoms, and Romano-British pottery.

DRY HILL (Surrey Arch.Collections, 41 (1933) pp.79-92). TQ 433 417.
Iron bloomery slag, but no sign of human occupation.
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SAXONBURY (see Sx.A.C. 71 (1930) pp.223-36). TQ 577 329. Here Winbolt
found iron slag and Romano-British pottery.

GARDEN HILL (Sx.A.C. 108 (1970) pp.39-49). TQ 444 319. Bloomery cinder
and tap slag; Romano-British pottery of the 1lst century A.D.

It is only fair to say here that Winbolt himself pointed out, in
his article on Piper’s Copse, the association of the first four of the
sites listed above with the iron industry, and we now have Garden Hill
to add. We now know that what used to be called late La Téne pottery,
found at all the above camp sites except Dry Hill, went on being used,
and presumably also made, for at least 25 years after A.D 43 (see C.F.
Tebbutt and H.F. Cleere “A Romano-British Bloomery at Pippingford,
Hartfield”, publication in progress.)

The problem really concerns the earthworks; some of these,
particularly Piper’s Copse and Dry Hill, are quite strong defensive
works, and should, from our present knowledge of the period, have been
constructed in the pre-Roman Iron Age. In spite of this, the only
certain occupation period found in them is of early Roman date,
relating to people engaged in the iron industry, and, with the one
exception, living inside the earthwork. As far as I am aware no wealden
earthwork site associated with the iron industry has been exhaustively
excavated, and, on those that have had work done on them, no occupation
has been found that could be proved to belong to the pre-Roman first
half of the First century A.D. Therefore we do not know what the
pottery of that period was like, locally, or if it differed from that
made after A.D. 43.

All these problems greatly add to the importance of the new
excavations started at Garden Hill in 1972. Here in one season we are
getting, as a basis, an extensive range of Romano-British pottery of
Iron Age type, associated with datable Roman wares and, so far, one
coin. Future work there should help to solve some of these problems.

I would like to thank Mr G.H. Kenyon for giving me so much help and
information about Piper'’s Copse.

Pushing Back the Frontier

Straker’s southern frontier is north of the scarp of the South Downs
and, in the north, he ends far short of the North Downs. But evidence
is appearing which will push these boundaries further apart. The Buxted
team has a salient in Isfield and an outpost in North Barcombe (TQ 440
178). The London-Lewes Roman Road runs a little to the east and is here
slagged. The road is intermittently slagged down to 427 128, in north-
west Ringmer. Further west a Minepit Field is recorded at 277 170 (now
built over). The ore may have supplied known sites further north.
Wivelsfield has a Cinderberry Copse at 350 215(approx), which needs
checking. As for the north, slag in Lenham parish and at Smith Farm,
Hollingbourne indicates ore almost at the scarp-foot. And if there, why
not east and west along the Vale of Holmesdale?
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Reports of District Teams

Buxted

1 ORGANISATION

The team now has a more flexible organisation with a series of
conveners, each accepting responsibility for a foray or an
investigation.

2 TOTAL OF DISCOVERIES TO DATE

BLOOMERIES: 59 of which 4 were dated by pottery sherds (2 Roman, 2
medieval)

WATER-POWERED SITES: 6 of which 3 are blast-furnaces and 3 are hammer-
forges

VISITS TO KNOWN SITES: many, of which 2 are perhaps important:

TQ 448 383 Blacklands, Cansiron, Forest Row, Roman industrial site
confirmed (Bull. 3)

TQ 507 256 Morphews, Buxted. Roman tile and pottery fragments indicate
Roman.

We thus have knowledge of Roman, medieval and early modern sites. One
early Roman site has been fully excavated: Pippingford (Bulls. 2/3)

3 DISCOVERIES SINCE LAST BULLETIN

TQ 554 264 “Under Rocks Wood”, West Mayfield, small bloomery, several
large lumps of soft cinder in stream and bank

529 219 Cinderfield, Mill View Farm, Buxted. Roman bloomery, large
concentration of slag in stream, bank and two fields; black soil, fu
lining, and a few sherds of Samian ware.

421 356 Brambletye Manor, bloomery, scatter of tapslag in field, N.
side of stream.

4 OTHER ACTIVITIES

Visits have been made to Strakers’ sites, i.e. Oldlands blast-furnace,
Oldlands Roman bloomery, Pounsley blast-furnace and Little (hammer-)
Forge. Such visits generally prompt more questions than they answer.
For instance: Oldlands furnace is thought to be the site where Ralph
Hogge made the first cast-iron cannon in Britain (1543); moreover it
may be where the “ironfounders of Buxted” were founding (casting) in
1490 (Schubert, 161). Thus we have a possible rival to our earliest
certain blast-furnace site at Newbridge, Hartfield (1496). Of course,
we do not know w